IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SC05-632

WYDELL EVANS

Appellant

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FOR BREVARD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF

Richard Kiley Florida Bar No. 0558893 James Viggiano STAFF ATTORNEY Florida Bar No. 0715336 CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-MIDDLE 3810 Corporex Park Drive Suite 210 Tampa, FL 33619 (813) 740-3544 Attorneys for Mr. Evans **

Preliminary Statement

This proceeding involves an appeal by Wydell Evans of the circuit court=s denial of Rule 3.850 relief as to Mr. Evans=sentence of death. The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record in this appeal: **A**R@ (followed by page number) **B** record on appeal to this Court; **A**PCR@ [vol. } (followed by page number) **B** record on post-conviction appeal. All other citations, such as those to exhibits introduced during the evidentiary hearing are self explanatory.

Standard of Review

Mr. Evans=appeal involves claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. As such these claims present mixed issues of law and fact and are to be reviewed de novo by this Court. <u>Stephens v. State</u>, 748 So.2d 1028 (1999).

Request for Oral Argument

Mr. Evans has been sentenced to death. The resolution of the issues in this action will determine whether Mr. Evans lives or dies. This Court has not hesitated to allow oral argument in other capital cases in a similar procedural posture. A full opportunity to air the issues through oral argument would be appropriate in this case, given the seriousness of the claims involved and the stakes at issue. Mr. Evans, through counsel, accordingly urges that the Court permit oral argument.

Statement of the Case and Facts

Wydell Evans was born to Lilly Evans on May 19, 1971 in Macon, Georgia. Wydell=s father was killed when Wydell was three years old. Shortly after Wydell was born, Lilly Evans and Wydell moved to Brevard County in 1973. Lilly Evans moved in with her mother where they stayed until Wydell was about twelve years old.

Lilly Evans was employed at Collins Avionic, Rockwell but lost her job because she became involved in drugs. Lilly was not more than a physical presence in Wydells life because she had become addicted to crack cocaine. Wydells grandmother assumed responsibility for raising Wydell. He lived with his grandmother, with his brother, Oren Javon Evans, and his aunts.

When Wydell was three years old, on September 5, 1974, he saw his aunt, Sandra Evans returning home. Wydell became excited at the return of his aunt and ran into the street. He was struck by a car and thrown about six to eight feet. Wydell hit the ground, rolled up, fell back down and became stiff. He stopped breathing and became unconscious. Wydell was not breathing for about one minute. Wydell-s aunt, who was nearby, ran to assist and began reviving him. Wydell was brought to Brevard Hospital in Melbourne, Florida where he was admitted.

At the hospital, Wydell was combative and somnolent. He was diagnosed as having a closed head injury and a probable concussion of the brain. He was discharged two days later.

The closed head injury affected Wydell throughout his school years. Wydell had a

speech pattern change and he received speech and language services until the fifth grade. He had a stuttering problem until the fifth grade.

Wydell grew up in a household of females and without a father figure. The lack of a father figure affected Wydell deeply. He often asked about his father and was jealous of other children who did have fathers. Wydell was ashamed that he had no father. The lack of a father figure was compounded by the abuse of his mother at the hands of men in her life. Wydell witnessed his mother being physically abused and would often sleep at the foot of his mother=s bed believing he could protect her. Wydell longed for the day when he would be strong enough to protect his mother.

During school years, Wydell was placed in the emotionally handicapped and slow learning disability programs at school. The emotionally handicapped or EH program was designed for students who had difficulties managing their emotions and behavior. Students in the program may be extremely withdrawn or extremely aggressive. The curriculum attempts to teach social personal skills and is based on a continuum of emotionally handicapped to severely emotionally disturbed. Wydell was being recommended for the severely emotionally disturbed level on the continuum when he was removed from class.

Wydell had such a quick temper that his teacher in the EH program stayed seven or eight feet from Wydell - more than the normal three feet from the other EH students. His teacher believed that Wydell was capable of violence. He seemed more disturbed than the other students in the EH program and was one of the two most disturbed students to come through the program at that time. When Wydell became of high school age, as a ninth grade student, he was placed with students in the tenth, eleventh, and twelfth grade students in an effort to have the older students control Wydell. Wydell was only one of four or five students where this program was implemented.

Wydell, because he was learning disabled, was also placed in specific learning disabilities class or SLD. As a student, Wydell was very restless, hyperactive, unable to concentrate, and constantly looking around. Wydell rarely if ever completed an entire piece of academic work. He had no planning skills and reacted to what ever was going on around him at the moment.

Wydell=s mother took him to the CPC Hospital in Palm Bay because of behavior problems. Wydell had an explosive fuse temper, was disobedient, and was having tantrums. She felt that Wydell really needed help. He was observed for four days but discharged because the facility served only those with drug and alcohol problems or those who were suicidal. After Wydell was discharged, his mother did not pursue further mental health counseling.

Wydell spent a large portion of his adult life in and out of jail. In October of 1998, Wydell was in jail and was released on October 19, 1998. Upon release, Wydell began drinking alcohol and visiting people. He met with Angel Johnson who was the fiancé of his brother, Oren Javon Evans. Angel braided Wydell=s hair while they were alone. Later, Wydell continued drinking beer and liquor.

On October 21, 1998, Sammy Hogan picked up Wydell and Lino Odenat to give

them a ride to Cocoa. As they drove, they passed a car on the side of the road in which Angel Johnson, Erica Foster, and April Holmes were sitting. Sammy stopped his car and Wydell got out and spoke with Angel. Angel and Erica agreed to ride along to Cocoa.

Sammy was driving the car and Wydell was sitting in the front passenger side with Lino sitting directly behind Wydell, Erica sitting in the middle of the back seat and Angel sitting directly behind the driver. Lino had a gun in his lap which was normal for him. Wydell also had a gun. After getting gas and continuing on their trip to Cocoa, there was laughing and joking going on in the car. An argument began between Wydell and Angel about Angel cheating on Wydells brother. Sammy told Wydell that Angel was not cheating. Wydell, who was very intoxicated, became angry and punched and cracked the car windshield. At some point Angel began to laugh and Wydell said Ayou think its funny?@ and shot Angel once. Wydell then told Sammy to drive to ABig Dicks@ in Eau Gallie. Wydell got out of the car at ABig Dicks@then got back in the car, traveled a short distance, and then again got out of the car. Wydell then told Erica and Sammy to take Angel to the hospital where she died.

Wydell Evans was charged with first degree murder and kidnapping. At trial, an Edward Rogers, who read about the shooting in the newspaper and who contacted law enforcement from the jail, testified that when Wydell Evans was in jail, he heard Wydell on the phone very angry. He said he heard Wydell say if he ever got his hands on her he=d **A**kill the bitch.@Rogers said Wydell was talking about Angel Johnson.

Wydell Evans was convicted of first degree murder and kidnapping. At the penalty

phase the state presented evidence supporting two statutory aggravators. The state presented copies of judgments and sentences which showed that Wydell Evans had two prior convictions for battery on a law enforcement officer and a prior conviction for aggravated battery. The state also presented evidence that Wydell was on probation when Angel was shot.

Defense counsel presented no statutory mitigation. Counsel did present nonstatutory mitigation. The jury recommended death by a vote of 10-2. The trial court found nonstatutory mitigation that Wydell had an abused or deprived childhood as a result of his mother=s crack addiction, that he contributed to society through his work habits, he performed charitable or humanitarian deeds, he counseled youth to avoid crime and stay in school, and he had good behavior in prison. Wydell Evans was sentenced to death.

Wydell Evans appealed the conviction to this Court. <u>Evans v. State</u>, 838 So.2d 1090 (Fla. 2003) This Court rejected Evans=appeal and affirmed the trial court decision with four Justices concurring and three Justices concurring in part and dissenting in part. Wydell Evans challenged his conviction and sentence by filing a Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence With Special Request for Leave to Amend. An evidentiary hearing was held on October 19 and 20, 2004 and December 16, 2004. The trial court issued its Order Denying Motion for Postconviction Relief on February 14, 2005. This appeal follows.

Evidentiary Hearing Facts

Testimony of Barbara McFadden

77

The testimony of Ms. McFadden established that Wydell=s emotional problems and impulse control issues were long standing and firmly embedded in his psychological make up when he entered Ms. McFadden=s class for the emotionally handicapped, he was sixteen years of age.

McFadden=s qualifications for the evaluation and teaching of emotionally handicapped students were impeccable. (PCR Vol. I-8). Regarding a specific incident, Ms. McFadden testified that **A**So I think he really didn=t want to lose his temper with me but didn=t trust himself.@(PCR Vol.I-14). Ms. McFadden did not take this as a threat, but rather a realization by Wydell of an inability to control himself. (PCR Vol. I-15). She described Wydell as angry and **A**explosive@. (PCR Vol. I-19) and that he was beyond her control in the program. (PCR Vol.I-21). Most significantly, Ms. McFadden testified that Mr. Evans= never demonstrated a high level of planning skills.(PCR Vol.I-27-28)

Testimony of Margaret O-Shaughnessy

This witness=testimony further documents and explains the mental problems which plagued Wydell Evans throughout his school years. Ms. O=Shaughnessy testified that she felt that Wydell had **A**a violent, short trigger,@that he was capable of **A**very great violence@ and **A** It was like he was at a higher plane or level or more disturbed than the other students that we had in the emotional education.@ (PCR Vol. I-33). Ms. O=Shaughnessy was aware of that Wydell was involved in an accident when he was three years old. She was aware of Wydell=s head injury and speech impediment. She was concerned that Wydell never received medical treatment and opined that if Wydell had stayed longer, a neurologist could have been consulted and his condition could have been addressed medically. (PCR Vol. I-41). O=Shaughnessy, as did McFadden described Wydell as someone who often acted before he thought, Avery impulsive@. (PCR Vol. I-43). On recross examination, the State tried to infer that Wydell was manipulative. O=Shaughnessy testified: AThis is my reality. It doesn=t make it right or wrong. In my reality, when I worked with him, he never thought it through. I wish I could have gotten him to think something through. He was just a short fuse that exploded, and I don=t BI wish he did what you said, that he would think it through to be manipulative; but, unfortunately, he just blows.@ (PCR Vol. I-44).

Kenneth Studstill

Attorney Studstill testified at the evidentiary hearing on October 19, 2004. (PCR Vol. I - 45) Attorney Studstill represented Wydell Evans as a conflict attorney. (PCR. Vol. I - 46) Attorney Studstill testified that he spent four point two hours preparing for the guilt phase of Wydell Evans=trial, two hours in conference with Wydell Evans, and nine hours on the first day of trial including one hour of research in the library. (PCR. Vol. I - 48-50)

Attorney Studstill did not engage another attorney for the preparation of the penalty phase contrary to American Bar Association (ABA) standards for representation in capital cases. Attorney Studstill was neither aware of the ABA standards standards nor had he attained the requisite amount of CLE credit hours regarding the representation of capital defendants. (PCR. Vol. - 68-69) Attorney Studstill proceeded to trial as counsel in both

کو

the guilt and penalty phases. (PCR. Vol. I - 71) He did not hire an investigator to assist him in preparation of the penalty phase of the trial. (PCR. Vol. I - 136)

Attorney Studstill was aware that Wydell Evans was a life-long resident in the jurisdiction where the trial took place. (PCR. Vol. I - 71) Attorney Studstill never had Wydell Evans evaluated by a psychologist or a psychiatrist and he did not obtain Wydells medical or school records. (PCR. Vol. I - 58 - 59) No psychologist or psychiatrist was retained to explore any mental health issues. (PCR. Vol. I - 72) Attorney Studstill did not know that Wydell Evans sustained a head injury when he was three years old. (PCR. Vol. I - 75, 78) He did not know and was unaware that Wydell had brain damage or any significant thing about his school records other than he quit school in the tenth grade. (PCR. Vol. I - 86) He acknowledged that brain damage should have been looked into. (PCR. Vol. I -86) Attorney Studstill was not aware that Wydell Evans was placed in special learning disabled classes and was designated emotionally handicapped as a child. (PCR. Vol. I - 76) Attorney Studstill did not believe he had any statutory mitigating circumstances to present. (PCR. Vol. I - 76) The non-statutory mitigating instruction of any aspect of the defendants character, record, or background, and any other circumstance of the offense was the only instruction requested by counsel. (PCR. Vol. I-77) Attorney Studstill, in preparation of the penalty phase, mailed letters to various people in an effort to secure character witnesses. (PCR. Vol. I - 84) Counsel was trying to establish that Wydell Evans was generally known as a good person irrespective of his criminal record. (PCR. Vol. I - 85)

Attorney Studstill testified that he was aware that Wydell Evans was drinking before the crime took place. (PCR. Vol. I - 89) No statutory mitigation instruction was requested by Attorney Studstill. (PCR. Vol. I - 90) In preparation for penalty phase, Attorney Studstill was looking for witnesses who would testify about characteristics of Wydell Evans that were admirable. (PCR. Vol. I - 92) He wanted to impress a jury that Wydell may not be all bad and he had some redeeming qualities and perhaps they would give him life in prison as opposed to the death sentence. (PCR. Vol. I - 92) Studstill said other than redeeming qualities, he did not know exactly what kind of mitigation he would be looking for. (PCR. Vol. I - 93) Studstill never investigated any mental incapacity on Wydell-s part. (PCR. Vol. I - 95) He did not believe he had any grounds to look for statutory mitigation. (PCR. Vol. I - 95, 96) He was unaware of Wydell=s school records. (PCR. Vol. I - 96) Had he known about the head injury that Wydell sustained as a child, he would have done something. (PCR. Vol. I - 97) Had he known about the head injury and the school behavior he might have presented it to the Court at the Spencer hearing. (PCR. Vol. I - 141)

Testimony of Sandra Evans

Sandra Evans testified that she is Wydell Evans=aunt. (PCR Vol. I - 143) She has known Wydell all of his life and has lived in the same household. (PCR Vol. I - 143)

Sandra was never contacted by Wydell=s trial counsel either by letter or telephone. She only came to the courthouse during the trial at the beginning of the penalty phase. She never thought the death penalty was a possibility and Wydell=s mother was sequestered as a witness and couldn≠ go in the courtroom so she came to court. (PCR Vol. I - 143) While at the courthouse, Mr. Studstill said he wanted to use her as a character witness. When Sandra asked what a character witness was, she was told to let everybody know what type of a person Wydell was - how good he was. She was told by Mr. Studstill to say only good things about Wydell.

(PCR Vol. I - 144) She spoke with Mr. Studstill for only about five minutes and took the stand shortly thereafter. (PCR Vol. I - 145)

At the evidentiary hearing Sandra recounted the accident where Wydell was struck by a car when he was three years old. She was driving home when Wydell jumped from her sister=s arms and ran toward the street. Wydell was struck by a car and thrown to the ground. He rolled up, fell back, and became stiff. (PCR Vol. I - 146) Wydell was not breathing and her sister was giving Wydell mouth to mouth and was pumping him. Sandra picked Wydell up and tried to take Wydell to the hospital but she had lost her keys. (PCR Vol. I - 146) An ambulance came and Sandra rode in the ambulance. Wydell was administered oxygen on the way to the hospital. (PCR Vol. I - 147)

After the accident, Wydell had scars on his head. He also continuously stuttered while speaking. (PCR Vol. I - 148) Wydell had no speech problems before the accident. (PCR Vol. I - 147)

Sandra testified that Wydell was picked on as a child. She believed Wydell suffered because there was no father figure in the household. Wydell often asked about his father but his father was killed when Wydell was young.(PCR Vol. I - 149)

Sandra testified that Mr. Studstill never asked her any questions that would lead to her talking about the car accident and head injury. She said Mr. Studstill told her to say good things about Wydell - anything good about him to save his life. (PCR Vol. I - 150)

Testimony of Lilly Evans

Lilly Evans testified at the evidentiary hearing. She is the mother of Wydell Evans. She was contacted by letter and asked to come to Mr. Studstill=s office. (PCR Vol. I -156) She met with him for about thirty minutes. Lilly was told by Mr. Studstill to gather as many character witnesses as she could. She should get people that could say good things about Wydell to save him from the death penalty. (PCR Vol. I - 156) Lilly recalls that Mr. Studstill told her that he had a good closing argument. (PCR Vol. I - 159)

Lilly recounted the accident where Wydell was knocked to the ground and rendered unconscious. She remembered Wydell jumping from her lap when her sister was coming home and Wydell being struck by a car. Wydell stopped breathing and Lilly attempted to give Wydell mount to mouth resuscitation and heart massage. Wydell was not breathing for about one minute. Lilly was overwhelmed and her sister picked Wydell up and put him down before an ambulance came. Wydell was kept in the hospital for observation. (PCR Vol. I - 162, 163)

After Wydell was released from the hospital he had speech problems and he stuttered. He was placed in speech classes up until the fifth grade. Wydell was often picked on by other children because of his speech problem. (PCR Vol. I - 164, 165)

Wydell also had a bad temper. He would loose his temper sometimes five or six

times a week. (PCR Vol. I - 166)

Lilly believed Wydell also suffered because he had no father and seemed jealous of other children because they had fathers and Wydell did not as his father died when Wydell was three years old. Wydell asked many questions about his father and it was obvious to Lilly that having no father bothered Wydell. (PCR Vol. I - 167)

From the time Wydell was six or seven years old through adulthood, Lilly was an absentee parent as she became addicted to cocaine. (PCR Vol. I - 168) Lilly was aware that Wydell was having problems in school but just wasnt the mother that she should have been. Wydell was aware that his mother was on drugs and would become angry and ashamed.

Wydell saw Lilly abused by men. (PCR Vol. I - 170) When Wydell was young, there was little he could do. He would sleep at the foot of Lilly=s bed to protect her from abuse. Later, when Wydell was older, he told Lilly that he was now able to protect her and he would act out, often being overprotective of her. (PCR Vol. I - 171)

Wydell=s trial attorney Mr. Studstill never asked Lilly about the difficulties that Wydell endured. Mr. Studstill only dwelled on the **A**good stuff@about Wydell to keep him off death row. (PCR Vol. I - 172)

Testimony of Oren Javon Evans

O. J. Evans described his brother as having a very bad temper problem and proceeded to give some graphic examples of Wydell=s explosive yet senseless temper. (PCR Vol II-205-209). O. J. Evans also testified that Wydell was the kind of person who

would be sensitive to people laughing at him, disagreeing with him or making fun of him. (PCR Vol II-208). He described Wydell as the angriest, most aggressive person he ever met. (PCR Vol. II-209). He testified that Wydell Agets so angry, he can≠ control himself@ (PCR Vol. II-210).

Testimony of Dr. Richard Carpenter

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