#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC05-632

WYDELL JODY EVANS

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

> CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT BARBARA C. DAVIS Fla. Bar No. 410519 ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 444 SEABREEZE BLVD., SUITE 500 DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32114 (386)238-4990 FAX - (386) 226-0457

##

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

The Defendant claims that this head injury at age three adversely affected him his whole life. He presented the testimony of who Dr. Richard Carpenter, stated the Defendant had an impulse disorder and rage reaction brought about by the closed head injury. (Exhibit G, Evidentiary transcript, p. 265.) He stated the consensus was that the Defendant had a closed-head injury and that excessive amounts of alcohol could exacerbate this problem. (Exhibit G, Evidentiary transcript, p. 267.) Dr. Carpenter also testified that he had

reviewed the medical records from the childhood accident, and that the records showed no fractures, subluxations or other significant abnormalities. Skull, cervical spine, pelvic and chest x-rays were taken, and all were normal. (Exhibit G, Evidentiary transcript, pp. 298-299; Exhibit 1, Medical records.) Dr. Carpenter further testified that when he prepared his report, he was unaware of the trial testimony of the Defendant that although he had been drinking, he was focused on everything he doing. (Exhibit G, Evidentiary was transcript, pp. 305-308.)

testified for the defense. Dr. Dee He reviewed the medical and school records. He opined that the Defendant "had a brain injury with probably some specific areas of damage and some diffuse damage that left him with speech and language problems and also problems with impulse control. And we're not talking here about a boy who is just disruptive. He's extremely disruptive. He's aggressive." extremely (Exhibit Η, Evidentiary transcript December 16, 2004, 112-113.) Dr. Dee opined that pp. the Defendant had brain damage. He based his assessment in part on the difference in the Defendant's verbal IQ and performance IQ. (Exhibit H, Evidentiary transcript December 16, 2004, pp. 117-127.) Dr. Dee felt that his frontal-lobe syndrome or the kinds of behavior discontrol the Defendant had shown meant that the Defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance when the crime was committed. (Exhibit H, Evidentiary transcript December 16, 2004, p. 129.) He further opined that the Defendant's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired at the time of the crime. Exhibit H, Evidentiary transcript December 16, 2004, pp. 130-131.

Dr. Harry McClaren testified that the Defendant probably had a brain injury of some type. However, he noted that the Defendant has been in control of himself on death row. If he had a bad impulse control disorder, he would have poor behavior in prison - and he has not had such behavior in prison. Dr. McClaren testified this led him to believe that a lot of the reason for the Defendant's explosive behavior may be more related to alcohol intoxication rather than the effects of any neurologic impairment he might have. (Exhibit H, Evidentiary transcript December 16, 2004, pp. 23-25.) He also noted the difference in the verbal IQ and performance IQ, but stated that while that difference is seen in brain damaged individuals, it might also be caused by other factors. (Exhibit н, Evidentiary transcript December 16, 2004, pp. 23-24.) In an aside, he opined that it would be a hard choice at trial, if the material had been available to present brain dysfunction as a mitigator, subject to having it rebutted by the Defendant's aggressive acts and long history of violence. (Exhibit H, Evidentiary transcript December 16, 2004, p. 45.) Dr. McClaren's opinion was that the Defendant was under control at the time of the shooting and that his actions after the murder show he was in control and not impaired. (Exhibit H, Evidentiary transcript December 16, 2004, pp. 69-71.) He stated that he believed the Defendant probably suffers from a degree of brain damage, but he could not say that damage resulted in any "in isolation." particular behavior He stated that, "In combination with other factors I talked about, maybe being brought a toxic environment, developing up in antisocial personality style, being involved in the drug trade, having to do what you've got to do to make it in that business, the use of alcohol, so it may be a factor. But it's probably overshadowed by personality characteristics and the effect of alcohol,

in my opinion." (Exhibit H, Evidentiary transcript December 16, 2004, pp. 71-72.) He found it hard to say what effect the concussion had on the Defendant since it happened so young, and that the brain injury may have nothing to do with his behavior. (Exhibit H, Evidentiary transcript December 16, 2004, pp. 74.) His opinion was that at the time of the incident the Defendant did suffer not from an extreme mental or emotional disturbance, and that he was able to conform his behavior to the requirements of law. He based his opinion on the events of the evening, before and after the murder. (Exhibit H, Evidentiary transcript December 16, 2004, pp. 74-75.)

The opinions of the defense mental health experts are in sharp contrast to the Defendant's own testimony of his mental health. The Defendant had stated in his presentence investigation report that his was perfect. mental health At the evidentiary hearing, his attorney testified that he tells his clients, "if you tell me something, I'm going to believe it. . . I didn't have any reason in the world to think there was anything wrong with Wydell Evans' mind in the sense it would be a mitigating factor of any kind, and certainly not a defense in the guilt or innocence phase of trial." (Exhibit F, Evidentiary the transcript, p. 87.) Attorney Studstill admitted that the Defendant had talked about drinking, but the Defendant also said that he knew what he was doing at the time. (Exhibit F, Evidentiary transcript, p. 89.) His attorney testified that the Defendant was competent, there was nothing to indicate he was out of touch with reality. The Defendant had emphasized to him that he knew what happened and that it was an accident. (Exhibit F, Evidentiary transcript, pp. 106-108.)

The Court finds more credence in the

testimony of Dr. McClaren than in the testimony of the defense doctors presented. Although all the doctors agree that he had some type of brain injury, the Court finds the defense has not established a sufficient "link" between the Defendant's behavior and his actions the night of the murder, such that it could be considered a mitigator.

The Court finds Mr. Studstill did not perform deficiently by failing to discover this "mitigating" evidence. The Defendant told his attorney that he was functioning fine and aware of all the events on that night. The Defendant's family did not give the defense attorney any information on any possible brain damage. Counsel cannot be deemed ineffective. "Just as counsel will not be considered ineffective for honoring his client's wishes, he cannot be deemed ineffective for relying on his client's statements when he had no reason to doubt his client's veracity." Fotopoulos v. State, 838 So. 2d 1122 (Fla. 2002). The Court also finds that a claim of diminished capacity would be inconsistent with the defense presented at trial, that there was no murder and it was an accident. This "accidental" strategy was forced upon the defense attorney by the Defendant. Counsel cannot be faulted for failing to investigate and to present evidence when his client has insisted on a certain course of action - in this case, that it was an accident.

(PCR Vol. VI, 834-839).

The court continued:

# School records

The Defendant presented testimony of his prior teachers, based on his premise that his head injury caused his misbehavior at school, and that his attorney should have investigated his school performance. Ms. Barbara McFadden testified that the Defendant was in her class because he was emotionally handicapped. She stated that he never had any kind of positive interaction with the other students, "It just seemed like we were just waiting for the other shoe drop all time." to the (Exhibit F, Evidentiary transcript, 12-13.) pp. She recalled an incident when the Defendant left the class and she followed him to talk to him. - He told her that "you need to get back. I don't want to hurt you." (Exhibit F, Evidentiary transcript, pp. 13 - 14.)She noted that "little things just seemed to set him off where at any moment you thought there was going to be an explosion all the time." (Exhibit F, Evidentiaiy transcript, p. 16.)

Ms. Margaret O'Shaughnessy, a special needs counselor, testified that she felt the Defendant "had such violent а short trigger... I felt with all of my heart that he was capable of very great violence." (Exhibit F, Evidentiary transcript, p. 33.) She recalled an incident when the Defendant was angry at a female student and he pushed her. (Exhibit F, Evidentiary transcript, p. 32.) The Defendant had also attacked a teacher, Gloria Allen. The teacher had turned him in for something and he went after her and pushed her. He also told the teacher that "he would get her." (Exhibit F, Evidentiary transcript, pp. 35, 40.)

The present defense evidence concerning the Defendant's poor performance in school is in stark contrast to the evidence presented at the sentencing hearing. At sentencing, the Defendant testified that he made A's, B's and C's in the early parts of his school years. (Exhibit O, Penalty phase transcript, p. 178.) His mother, Lillian Evans, testified that he went to school, and "he was very good in school." She agreed that he did well in school. (Exhibit O, Penalty phase transcript, p. 116.) She admitted that he dropped out of school in the tenth grade, but said she didn't know why. (Exhibit O, Penalty phase transcript, p. 122.)

The Defendant's attorney was not ineffective for failing to investigate and present the school records. The Defendant and his witnesses testified at sentencing that he was a good student. The school records would have shown that the Defendant had learning disabilities. They also would have shown Defendant had been that the violent, disruptive and unruly throughout his school career. The Court finds it was reasonable to attempt to portray the Defendant in а positive manner, not in a negative light. The Court finds no prejudice, as it cannot be said that the results of the proceeding would have been different if this evidence had been introduced. As his attorney stated at the evidentiary hearing, he wouldn't want to present the prior violence to the jury, "Because all you're going to do is have 12 people on the jury all ready to pull the switch telling them how mean your man is and then tell them not to." He was hesitant to present this prior violence to the judge at sentencing, and he knew that his client had stated that his mental health was perfect. (Exhibit F, Post Conviction transcript, pp. 137 - 141.)

Court recognizes that The а strategic decision is not reasonable when an attorney fails to investigate his options and make a choice. reasonable However, Attornev Studstill knew his options were to either present the Defendant as a good person who deserved to live, or to open the door to all the prior acts of violence the Defendant had committed. The Court finds the strategy to present the Defendant in a good light did not fall below the standard of reasonable representation, and did not prejudice the Defendant.

The Court finds the failure to present a defense of diminished capacity does not show that the attorney's conduct fell below the reasonableness standard, nor has the Defendant shown prejudice. Diminished capacity is not available as a defense to negate specific intent. Chestnut v. State, 538 So. 2d 820 (Fla. 1989). "Evidence of an abnormal mental condition not constituting legal insanity is inadmissible to negate specific intent." Hodges v. State, 885 So. 2d 338, 352 (Fla. 2003). The Court finds that the cases relied upon by the defense are not factually similar to the case at bar. The defense cites Bunney v. State, 603 So. 2d 1270 (Fla. 1992), as authority that trial counsel could have used diminished capacity as a viable defense. However, the Defendant's mental claims herein do not fit any of the categories Bunney set forth as admissible affirmative defenses. Id. at. 1273. These conditions include intoxication (no longer recognized as an affirmative defense), epilepsy, infancy or senility. Id. None of those exceptions apply herein. Similarly, in Wise v. State, 580 So. 2d 329, 330 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), the Defendant claimed he had а sudden loss of consciousness, comparable to a defendant in a vehicular homicide case claiming as a defense that a stroke, seizure or heart attack caused unconsciousness prior to a accident. fatal There was no lack of consciousness in this case - instead the Defendant stated all through trial that he was aware of his surrounding circumstances and that it was an accident.

Attorney Studstill was not deficient for failing to present a diminished capacity defense, as this was not a viable defense. Therefore, no prejudice has been shown by the failure to present such a defense.

(PCR Vol. VI, 839-841). These findings are supported by

competent, substantial evidence. In fact, the trial judge attached each section of testimony to his order. Mr. Studstill testified that the theory of defense was that the shooting was an accident. (PCR Vol. I, 101). Evans insisted the shooting was an accident. (PCR Vol. I, 83). He told the police it was an accident. (PCR Vol. I, 99). He told the jury it was an accident. (PCR Vol. I, 100). Evans clearly recounted the events of the incident to counsel and to the jury. (PCR Vol. I, 100). He said that he had been drinking but clearly remembered the circumstances. (PCR Vol. I, 101). Counsel made a strategic decision to focus on the inconsistencies in eye-witness testimony. (PCR Vol. I, 101). Lino Odenat=s testimony supported the theory the shooting was an accident. (PCR Vol. I, 101). There was no evidence Evans did not know exactly what he was doing, and this strategy was reasonable. Mr. Studstill had no reason to question Evans=s version of events or believe Evans was out of touch with reality when the shooting occurred. (PCR Vol. I, 106). Evans never recounted any situation in which he had a black out or epileptic seizure or lost consciousness. (PCR Vol. I, 107). In fact, Evans told Mr. Studstill that he knew exactly what he did and that it was an accident. (PCR Vol. I, 107).

Evans testified at the evidentiary hearing that he knew

there was a round in the chamber of his gun when they got in the car. (PCR VOL. III, 419). Evans does not believe in intimidating people; he believes in Agetting straight to the point.@ (PCR VOL. III, 422). Evans was Apissed off@ about the people in the car. (PCR VOL. III, 422). The women laughing at him angered him further. (PCR VOL. III, 424). Evans continues to maintain the shooting was an accident (PCR VOL. III, 364, 472). Evans wrote Oren a letter about shooting Angel. He told Oren Athe gun just went off.@ (PCR VOL. II, 222).

Second, even if Evans could establish diminished capacity at the time of the offense, diminished capacity defenses are not recognized as an affirmative defense in Florida; therefore, counsel cannot be ineffective. In *Hodges v. State*, 885 So. 2d 338 (Fla. 2003), this Court addressed a similar situation and found that there was no nexus between the school/medical records and the claim Hodges was suffering from brain damage or mental health problems. Hodges= military records showed he was discharged due to *A*defective attitude@ and inability to adjust to a disciplined environment. *Id.* at 349. This Court also noted that:

On a related topic, we decline to address Hodges' contention that guilt and penalty phase counsel were ineffective for failing to present evidence showing that Hodges' mental capacity prevented him from acting in a manner that is cold, calculated, and

premeditated. This Court has held on numerous occasions that evidence of an abnormal mental condition constituting leqal insanity not is inadmissible to negate specific intent. See, e.g., Spencer v. State, 842 So. 2d 52, 63 (Fla. 2003) (holding that evidence of Evans' disassociative state would not have been admissible during the guilt phase); Bunney v. State, 603 So. 2d 1270, 1273 (Fla.1992) (reiterating that commission of a crime during an epileptic seizure constitutes an exception to the broad prohibition against diminished capacity defenses); Chestnut v. State, 538 So. 2d 820, 821 (Fla.1989) (rejecting the argument that the Evans did not have the requisite mental state for premeditated murder as a result of extremely low intelligence, a seizure disorder, diminished cognitive skills, and a passive and dependent personality).

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